
If you would like help to understand this document, or would like it in 
another format, please call Simon Cann, Democratic Services Officer on 
01432 260667 or e-mail simon.cann@herefordshire.gov.uk in advance of 
the meeting. 

 

 

 

Agenda 
 

Environment and 
Sustainability Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

 

Date: Monday 22 January 2024 

Time: 10.00 am 

Place: Herefordshire Council Offices, Plough Lane, Hereford, 
HR4 0LE 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Simon Cann, Democratic Services Officer 

Tel: 01432 260667 

Email: simon.cann@herefordshire.gov.uk 

 
 

 



 

 

Agenda for the meeting of the Environment and 
Sustainability Scrutiny Committee 

Membership 

 

  
Chairperson Councillor Louis Stark 
Vice-chairperson Councillor Helen Heathfield 
   
 Councillor Dave Davies 

Councillor Robert Highfield 
Councillor Rob Owens 
Councillor Justine Peberdy 
Councillor Elissa Swinglehurst 
Councillor Richard Thomas 

 

 
 
 



 
Herefordshire Council  22 JANUARY 2024 
 

 

Agenda 

 Pages 
  

1.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 

 To receive apologies for absence.  
 

 

2.   NAMED SUBSTITUTES 
 

 

 To receive details of members nominated to attend the meeting in place of a 
member of the committee. 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To receive declarations of Interests from members of the committee in 
respect of items on the agenda. 
 

 

4.   MINUTES 
 

9 - 16 

 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2023. 
 

 

HOW TO SUBMIT QUESTIONS 
 

 

The deadline for the submission of questions for this meeting is 09.30am on 
Thursday 18 January 2024. 
 

Questions must be submitted to councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk.  
Questions sent to any other address may not be accepted. 
 

Accepted questions and the responses will be published as a supplement to the 
agenda papers prior to the meeting.  Further information and guidance is available at  
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved 

 

 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 

 To receive any written questions from members of the public. 
 

 

6.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 

 To receive any written questions from members of the council. 
 

 

7.   NUTRIENT MANAGEMENT BOARD 
 

 

 For the committee to scrutinise the effectiveness and achievements of the 
Nutrient Management Board. 
 
PAPERS TO FOLLOW 
 

 

8.   CHAIR UPDATE 
 

 

 To provide updates on developments and activity relevant to the committee’s 
remit.  
 

 

9.   DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING 
 

 

 Monday 25 March 2024 10am 
 

 

mailto:councillorservices@herefordshire.gov.uk
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/getinvolved




The public’s rights to information and attendance at meetings 

In view of the continued prevalence of Covid, we have introduced changes to our usual 
procedures for accessing public meetings.  These will help to keep our councillors, staff and 
members of the public safe. 

Please take time to read the latest guidance on the council website by following the link at 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings and support us in promoting a safe environment for 
everyone.  If you have any queries please contact the governance support team on 01432 
261699 or at governancesupportteam@herefordshire.gov.uk  

We will review and update this guidance in line with Government advice and restrictions. 

Thank you for your help in keeping Herefordshire Council meetings safe. 

 

You have a right to: 

 Attend all council, cabinet, committee and sub-committee meetings unless the business to 
be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

 Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the meeting.  
Agenda and reports (relating to items to be considered in public) are available at 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings 

 Inspect minutes of the council and all committees and sub-committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the cabinet or individual cabinet members for up to six 
years following a meeting.   

 Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up to 
four years from the date of the meeting (a list of the background papers to a report is given 
at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on which the officer has 
relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available to the public. 

 Access to a public register stating the names, addresses and wards of all councillors with 
details of the membership of cabinet and of all committees and sub-committees.  
Information about councillors is available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors 

 Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title.  The council’s 
constitution is available at www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution 

 Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of the 
council, cabinet, committees and sub-committees and to inspect documents. 

5

http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings
mailto:governancesupportteam@herefordshire.gov.uk
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/meetings
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/councillors
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/constitution


Recording of meetings 

Please note that filming, photography and recording of this meeting is permitted provided that 
it does not disrupt the business of the meeting. 

Members of the public are advised that if you do not wish to be filmed or photographed you 
should let the governance services team know before the meeting starts so that anyone who 
intends filming or photographing the meeting can be made aware. 

The reporting of meetings is subject to the law and it is the responsibility of those doing the 
reporting to ensure that they comply. 

The council may make a recording of this public meeting or stream it live to the council’s 
website.  Such recordings are made available for members of the public via the council’s 
YouTube channel at www.youtube.com/user/HerefordshireCouncil/videos 

 

Public transport links 

The Herefordshire Council office at Plough Lane is located off Whitecross Road in Hereford, 
approximately 1 kilometre from the City Bus Station. 

The location of the office and details of city bus services can be viewed at: 
www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1597/hereford-city-bus-map-local-services- 

 

 

6

http://www.youtube.com/user/HerefordshireCouncil/videos
http://www.herefordshire.gov.uk/downloads/file/1597/hereford-city-bus-map-local-services-


 

      

The seven principles of public life  

(Nolan Principles) 

 

1. Selflessness 

Holders of public office should act solely in terms of the public interest. 

2. Integrity 

Holders of public office must avoid placing themselves under any obligation to 
people or organisations that might try inappropriately to influence them in their work. 
They should not act or take decisions in order to gain financial or other material 
benefits for themselves, their family, or their friends. They must declare and resolve 
any interests and relationships. 

3. Objectivity 

Holders of public office must act and take decisions impartially, fairly and on merit, 
using the best evidence and without discrimination or bias. 

4. Accountability 

Holders of public office are accountable to the public for their decisions and actions 
and must submit themselves to the scrutiny necessary to ensure this. 

5. Openness 

Holders of public office should act and take decisions in an open and transparent 
manner. Information should not be withheld from the public unless there are clear 
and lawful reasons for so doing. 

6. Honesty 

Holders of public office should be truthful. 

7. Leadership 

Holders of public office should exhibit these principles in their own behaviour and 
treat others with respect. They should actively promote and robustly support the 
principles and challenge poor behaviour wherever it occurs. 

 

7





 

Minutes of the meeting of Environment and Sustainability 
Scrutiny Committee held at Herefordshire Council Offices, 
Plough Lane, Hereford, HR4 0LE on Monday 27 November 2023 
at 10.00 am 
  

Present: Councillor Louis Stark (chairperson) 
Councillor Helen Heathfield (vice-chairperson) 

   
 Councillors: Dave Davies, Robert Highfield, Rob Owens and Richard Thomas 
 

  
In attendance: Councillor Justine Peberdy, Councillor Elissa Swinglehurst (Cabinet Member 

Environment) 
  
Officers: Mark Averill (Service Director Environment and Highways), Ben Boswell (Head of 

Environment Climate Emergency and Waste Services), Simon Cann (Clerk), 
Richard Vaughan (Sustainability and Climate Change Manager), Danial Webb 
(Statutory Scrutiny Officer), Charles Yarnold (Head of Regulation and Technical 
Services) 

 

53. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
No apologies received. 
 

54. NAMED SUBSTITUTES   
 
None. 
 

55. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
None. 
 

56. MINUTES   
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 25 September 2023 were agreed as a correct record and 
signed by the chair. 
 

57. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC   
 
There were no questions received from members of the public. 
 

58. QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL   
 
There were no questions received from members of the council. 
 

59. CHAIR'S UPDATE   
 
The chair enquired about outstanding executive responses in relation to committee 
recommendations on: waste and recycling, river water quality and the local plan. Officers 

9

AGENDA ITEM 4



 

present provided an assurance that these responses were being worked on and would 
be available in due course. 
 

60. IMPLEMENTING THE ENVIRONMENT ACT 2021   
 
The Head of Environment Climate Emergency and Waste Services introduced the 
report, the following key considerations were noted: 
 

 The Environment Act 2021 (The Act) received Royal Assent on 9 November 

2021 and operates as the UK’s new framework of environmental protection. 

Given that the UK has left the EU, new laws that relate to nature protection, water 

quality, clean air, as well as additional environmental protections that originally 

came from the EU, needed to be established. The Environment Act allows the 

UK to enshrine some environmental protection into law, it offers new powers to 

set new binding targets. 

 The priority areas were, air quality, water, biodiversity and resource efficiency 

and waste reduction. 

 The Act introduces a new framework for setting long-term, legally binding targets 

for environmental improvement. These targets will sit with the Secretary of State. 

 The Act establishes the Office of Environmental Protection (OEP) as an 

independent, domestic watchdog. The Council has a duty to co-operate with the 

OEP in connection with the exercise of its functions. 

 
1. In response to a question from the chair the Head of Environment Climate 

Emergency and Waste Services acknowledged that Herefordshire Council 

currently had no holistic view of costing the implementation of regulations 

contained within the Act. However, broad estimates were available and pre-

procured solutions, with real costings, were ready to be turned on once finalised 

deadlines and details relating to the act were released by central government. 

 

2. The committee noted it would be helpful if the executive commissioned a piece of 

work to evaluate, in broad terms, the costs of implementing the requirements of 

the Environment Act 2021. 

 

3. It was explained to the committee that Herefordshire Council had no formal single 

interface with the Office of Environmental Protection, but that the Corporate 

Director, Economy and Environment could fulfil this function. 

 

4. It was explained that Herefordshire Council officers had had informal contact with 

Oflog (the Office for Local Government) regarding new indicator sets - relating to 

good performance and risk of failure - coming through and were in regular 

contact with representatives from partners including: Defra, the Environment 

Agency and Natural England. 

 

5. The committee noted that it would perhaps be helpful if the executive appointed a 

single interface with the Office for Environmental Protection. 

 
The committee broke the report down into several broad topics for discussion, starting 
with: 
 
River quality: 
 
The principal points of the discussion are summarised below. 

10



 

6. The committee praised those involved in organising and delivering the ‘building 

bridges over troubled waters’ river recovery conference held on 26 November 

2023. 

 

7. Positive contributions from local farmers, food and agri-tech representatives, 

nutrient and soil experts and the general public indicated that various groups and 

stakeholders were willing to work together in tackling the issues surrounding the 

Wye. 

 

8. The committee noted the work being carried out by Welsh Water in updating and 

restructuring its plants to reduce and eliminate water pollution. 

 

9. The committee noted the importance of engaging and working with farmers, 

rather than forcing regulations on them in a punitive manner. In particular, the 

need to reach out to and work with the younger generation of farmers would be 

key in spreading information and educating individuals about the benefits of 

adopting and implementing strategically intelligent biodiversity and river water 

quality regulations with a view to delivering multi-benefits. 

 

10. The committee noted that it would be useful if the executive worked with Farm 

Herefordshire and the Rural Hub to engage with young farmers about biodiversity 

and river water quality. 

 

11. The committee heard that Herefordshire Council had a team of three officers 

checking private water supplies, with a focus on larger suppliers servicing more 

than one household. The Environment Act had not changed private water supply 

regulations and the council continued to hold powers to test and analyse water 

supplies, which were fully cost recoverable.    

 
Nature and BNG (Biodiversity Net Gain): 
 
The principal points of the discussion are summarised below. 
 

12. The committee enquired about how the Nature Recovery Strategy tied in with 

Biodiversity Net Gains 

 

13. The committee heard there had been numerous delays from the government 

about the guidance on nature recovery networks. Some mapping work had been 

conducted in other counties as part of a pilot scheme and Herefordshire had 

received guidance on this a few months ago. 

 

14. The committee heard a steering group for the development of the strategy had 

been set up with the Wildlife Trust and other partners. 

 

15. Local mapping work was currently being conducted with the Wildlife Trust and 

would set the strategy and set out priority corridors and potential areas for 

regeneration, which might include the river Wye. Mapping work would underpin 

the strategy and provide a solid evidence base going forward. 

 

16. The committee heard that guidance on biodiversity net gain had been heavily 

delayed. Biodiversity net gain would be informed by the nature recovery strategy, 

which itself was informed by the mapping work being carried out. It was 

explained that the strategy and biodiversity net gain were interlinked and 

remained a work in progress. 

11



 

 

17. In response to a question from the committee, it was explained that as part of 

preliminary ecological appraisals the baseline for 10% plus biodiversity net gain 

would be derived from the on-site use of a new national metric, which was 

currently in development. 

 

18. The committee heard that the nature recovery strategy would be a key document 

within the overarching local plan and that nature would be a golden thread 

running through it. Mapping exercises and the nature recovery strategy were 

being co-developed and there would be a process in place, including 

consultations, to make sure they were aligned and that the natural environment 

was protected. 

 

19. The committee discussed the nature recovery strategy steering committee and 

raised concerns about the apparent infrequency of its meetings, engagement of 

partners and perceived lack of action since its formation. It was suggested that it 

might be helpful to take a look at the make-up of the committee’s membership. 

 

20. The committee voiced frustration about the perceived lack of action in relation to 

implementing anticipated changes resulting from the Environment Act regulations 

being brought in. It was explained that government guidance in certain areas was 

still being finalised and that pushing on with work before the guidance was 

finalised could render some work useless. Deciding what work could and couldn’t 

be carried out was described by the cabinet member for the environment as a 

balancing act, they acknowledged the frustrations arising from delays, but 

stressed in some instances it was not appropriate to proceed until finalised 

guidance/legislation was in place. 

 

21. It was noted that the ecology department had been thinly-staffed, but that the 

situation had improved in recent times and the council was advertising for and 

hoping to recruit a dedicated nature recovery officer. 

 

22. A discussion around hedgerows concluded that it might be useful for the 

executive to engage with land owners, Defra and other partners regarding the 

formulation of a good hedgerow maintenance policy. 

 

23. The Head of Environment Climate Emergency and Waste Services assured the 

committee that work on the nature recovery strategy would feed into and inform, 

but not be held up by the development of the local plan. 

 

Action: The committee had concerns about enforcement of biodiversity net gain. 
The statutory scrutiny officer suggested that these be passed on to the Connected 
Community Scrutiny Committee as part of its work on Section 106 agreements.  
 
  
 
Air Quality: 
 
The Head of Regulation and Technical Services introduced and gave an overview of the 
Air quality section of the report and explained that: 
 

 Hereford and Leominster Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) were declared 

on the basis of nitrogen dioxide, which at the time of declaration was in 

exceedance of the national standard in both locations. PM10 had also been 

12



 

recorded at the Hereford AQMA for over ten years using an automatic Air Quality 

Monitoring Station (AQMS), so historical data would be available if requested / 

required. A recent upgrade last year to the automatic AQMS in Hereford had 

facilitated additional particulate monitoring of PM2.5, and this functionality was 

mirrored in the new AQMS installed (also last year) in the Leominster AQMA. 

This would assist in demonstrating compliance with national particulate targets 

set within the context of the Clean Air Act 1993 and Environment Act 2021. 

 

 The Transport Act 2008 required all local transport authorities to have due regard 

to Government guidance and policies related to the environment when 

formulating their Local Transport Plans (LTP) and policies. The council’s currently 

adopted LTP (2016-2031) includes a number of policies which sought to reduce 

the impact of polluting forms of transport and improve air quality. These included 

‘LTP Policy AQ1- Improving Air Quality’ and ‘LTP Policy ZLV1- Zero and Low 

Emission Vehicles’. In order to monitor the effectiveness of these, the LTP 

included a number of Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) which were monitored 

on an annual basis. These included: a reduction in nitrogen dioxide and 

particulate levels within Herefordshire’s two Air Quality Management Areas, and 

a reduction of CO2 from transport 

 
The committee debated the report and the principal points of the discussion are 
summarised below. 
 

24. The Head of Regulation and Technical Services pointed out that regarding NO2, 

data from the Hereford city monitoring stations had shown a year-on-year decline 

and the area was now below the threshold, this was not currently the case in 

Bargates/Leominster, but things were moving in the right direction. 

 

25. The committee heard that in areas of the county outside of the AQMAs, diffusion 

tubes were used to measure NO2 levels and that no thresholds were being 

broken. 

 

26. The committee was told that action plans relating to the air quality management 

areas and stations were long in the tooth and would need to be reviewed by 

either council officers or contracted out. The committee noted that resourcing for 

and maintaining these air quality management areas and air quality monitoring 

stations would be important in being able to demonstrate compliance with Office 

of Environmental Protection regulations and felt it was important a strong case be 

put forward to retain them. 

 

27. The committee discussed proposals surrounding the introduction of 20mph zones 

in the county. The statutory scrutiny officer pointed out that this was something 

being considered by the Connected Communities Scrutiny Committee and that a 

request could be made for an update on this. 

 
Action: The Head of Environment Climate Emergency and Waste Services offered 
to gather more evidence on the science behind 20mph speed zones and report 
back to the committee with it. 
 
Action: The committee discussed ammonia emissions and legislation surrounding 
the issue. The cabinet member for environment stated that they would look further 
into this subject and return any relevant material to the board for consideration. 
 

13



 

 
Waste 
 
The Head of Environment Climate Emergency and Waste Services gave an overview of 
the report with key point of consideration being: 
 

 There had been numerous and significant delays from Government on the 

secondary legislation relating to the consistency in recycling collections, deposit 

return schemes and extended producer responsibility. On 21 October 

Government provided a direction of travel on the new Waste Reforms, renamed 

as 'Simpler Recycling’. This update proposed a programme of changes from 

2025 – 2027 as detailed and indicates that local authorities would be supported 

by ‘Reasonable’ new burdens contributions for the additional services. 

 The procurement process for the new waste collection service was live and had 

been updated to accommodate demands around flexibility relating to government 

guidance. 

 
28. The committee noted it that it had already made recommendations to the 

executive on this subject, but that this item provided an opportunity to add more if 

necessary. 

  

29. In response to a question from the committee, the the Head of Environment 

Climate Emergency and Waste Services explained plans regarding the ongoing 

procurement process of a waste collection provider. This was currently out to 

tender and the contract would require that the new provider initially carried out 

the existing service, but would have the flexible to turn on new services as 

required. 

 

30. There was current ambiguity regarding the government’s use of the term 

statutory ‘guidance’, and whether that meant it would be mandatory or was just 

guidance. 

 

31. It was explained to the committee that disposal arrangements had been extended 

to achieve 1% to landfill and secure outlets for food waste and gardening waste 

to go to anaerobic digestion. Avoiding any waste ending up near the river Wye 

had also been a condition of new arrangements. 

 

32. The Head of Environment Climate Emergency and Waste Services was confident 

that the council could demonstrate that it was and would be compliant with Office 

of Environmental Protection regulations. It was also stated feedback on 

arrangements resulting from a check by Defra back in 2023 had been very 

positive about the disposal services in place.  

 
At the end of the discussion, the committee made the following recommendations to the 
executive. 
 
RESOLVED 
 
That: 
 

i) That the executive commissions a piece of work to evaluate, in broad 

terms, the costs of implementing the requirements of the Environment 

Act 2021; and 

14



 

ii) That the executive appoints a single interface with the Office for 

Environmental Protection; and 

iii) That the executive works with Farm Herefordshire and the Rural Hub to 

engage with young farmers about biodiversity and river water quality; 

and 

iv) That the executive works with partners and land owners to promote good 

hedgerow management and develop a hedgerow policy for the Council. 

This should be triangulated with the Defra Consultation on protecting 

hedgerows; and 

v) That the executive works with the Wildlife Trust and Rivers Trust to look at 

the membership of the steering committee for local nature recovery; 

and 

vi) That the executive notes that the Environment and Sustainability Scrutiny 

Committee supports the retention of the 2 Air Quality Management 

Stations (AQMSs). 

 
61. WORK PROGRAMME   

 
ACTION: The committee requested that the latest evidence on climate change be 
made available as part of the paperwork for the ‘Meeting net zero-carbon in 
Herefordshire’ item scheduled for the committee meeting on 25 March 2024. 
 

62. DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING   
 
Monday 22 January 2024 10.00 am. 
 

The meeting ended at 12.52pm Chairperson 

15




	Agenda
	 
	The seven principles of public life (the 'Nolan principles')

	4 Minutes

